
Agenda for the Regular Meeting of Council for May 19, 2015 Page 1 of 3 

THE CORPORATION OF THE TOWN OF COBALT 
 

REGULAR MEETING OF COUNCIL 
COBALT COUNCIL CHAMBERS 
TUESDAY, May 19, 2015, 6:30pm 

AGENDA 
  

 

1. Adoption of the Agenda 
 a) Adoption of the Agenda dated May 19, 2015      Res 15-099 

 

2. Declaration of Conflict or Pecuniary Interest 
 
3. Adoption of the Minutes 

a) Minutes of the Regular Meeting of Council of April 28, 2015    Res 15-100 
    

4. Business Arising From The Minutes 
 
5. Presentations and Delegations 
 a) INVITED PRESENTATION: Insurance Renewal     Res 15-101 
 b) DELEGATION: Mini-Putt Proposal       Res 15-102 
 
6. Reports, Resolutions and Discussion Items presented by Council Committees 
  
 6.1  Mayor’s Update 
 a) FONOM Report 

b) Agnico Luncheon 
 
 6.2  Finance and Public Safety 
 a) Administrative Report 2015-06: Credit Card Payments    Res 15-103 

b) Administrative Report 2015-07: Insurance of Museum Vehicles   Res 15-104 
c) Arena Proposal submitted by Councillors Schwartz and Nielsen   Res 15-105 
d) Arena Recommendation        Res 15-106 
d) 2015 Budget          Res 15-107 

 
6.3 Public Works  
a) Sewer and Waste Management Policy Under Review 
 
6.4 Culture, Tourism and Heritage 
a) Mining Museum, Sale of Silver Bars       Res 15-108 

 
6.5 Economic Development and Property Management 
a) Planning Recommendation, Building Permit for 8 Lang Street   Res 15-109 

 
6.6  Housing and Social Services 
a) Community Garden         Res 15-109 
 

 6.7   Festivals and Recreation 
 a) Hoist Room Open House 
 

6.8   Outside Boards, Committees and Commissions 
   
7. Schedule of Accounts 
 a) Motion to pay accounts as per attached schedules 15-10 & 15-11   Res 15-110 



Agenda for the Regular Meeting of Council for May 19, 2015 Page 2 of 3 

 
8. Correspondence for Council Comment                Res 15-111, 15-112 

May 4/15 Rochelle Schwartz Mining Competition August 1, 2015 15-74 
May 12/15 Cobalt Mining Museum Silver Bars 15-84 

 
9. Correspondence for Council Information       Res 15-113 
 

April 23/15 MPAC 2014 Annual Report and Financial Statements 15-62 
April 24/15 TeMAG Minutes of the April 11, 215 Meeting 15-63 
April 28/15 Earlton –Timiskaming Regional 

Airport Municipal Services 
Board 
 

Minutes of the March 19, 2015 Meeting 15-64 

April 28/15 Earlton-Timiskaming Regional 
Airport 

March 2015 Financial Statement 15-65 

April 28/15 Energy East Pipeline  Community Link 15-66 
April 28/15 Minister Responsible for 

Seniors Affairs 
June is Seniors Month 15-67 

April 28/15 TSACC  Annual Dinner May 28, 2015 15-68 
April 28/15 Ministry of Finance 2nd Quarter OMPF Payment  - week of April 

20/15 
15-69 

April 29/15 Rose Belanger –Lakeview 
Signs 

Re: request for proposal –CD-RFP-001-2014 15-70 

April 30/15 Cochrane-Temiskaming Native 
Housing Inc 

Annual General Meeting  April 25, 2015 15-71 

May 1/15 Community Living Walkathon – request to use the Cobalt Arena 15-72 
May 1/15 Cobalt Firefighters  Minutes of the Regular Meeting  April 6, 2015 15-73 
May 4/15 Classic Theatre Unaudited Financial Statements 15-75 
May 5/15 Bereavement Authority of 

Ontario 
Single regulator for the bereavement sector 15-76 

May 5/15 Ministry of Citizenship, 
Immigration and International 
Trade 

Ontario Medal for good Citizenship 15-77 

May 6/15 Ministry of Community Safety 
and Correctional Services 

No Vulnerable Occupancies in our 
Municipality 

15-78 

May 6/15 Canada Post Say No to Privatization  15-79 
May 9/15 Angela Hunter Teck Prospect Park Mini Putt 15-80 
May 11/15 Corporation of the Town of 

Earlton 
Drag Races for August 7,8 and 9, 2015 15-81 

May 11/15 Ministry of Transportation Report on Highway Maintenance 15-82 
May 12/15 Green Timiskaming Northern Solar Bonds 15-85 

 
         
10. By-laws 

a) By-Law 2015-011: Media Policy       Res 15-114 
 

11. On-going Business 
a) Fraser Housing Complex Negotiation      Res 15-115 

 
12. Notice of Motion 
 
13. Closed Session          

a)  Resolution to proceed in closed session      Res 15-116 
 
(2)(b)  Personal matter about an identifiable individual, including municipal or 
local board employees 

– Legacy Fund Proposal 



Agenda for the Regular Meeting of Council for May 19, 2015 Page 3 of 3 

– Economic Development Officer Recommendation 
 

(2)(c)  A proposed disposition of land by the municipality – Trailer Park 
 
(2)(e)  Matter litigation or potential litigation, including matters before 
administrative tribunals, affecting the municipality  

– Fraser Tenant Complaint 
– Sharpe Lake Property 

 
b)  Resolution to return to open session        Res 15-117 

 
14. Other Business 
 a) Legacy Fund Proposal        Res 15-118 
 b) Economic Development Officer       Res 15-119 
 
15. Confirmation By-Law         Res 15-120

       
16. Adjournment           Res 15-121
         



Minutes for the Regular Meeting of Council on April 28, 2015 Page 1 of 6 

  THE CORPORATION OF THE TOWN OF COBALT  

 

REGULAR MEETING OF COUNCIL 

  COBALT COUNCIL CHAMBERS 

TUESDAY, APRIL 28, 2015 

MINUTES 

  
 

MINUTES OF THE REGULAR COUNCIL MEETING HELD TUESDAY,  APRIL 28, 2015 COMMENCING AT 

6:30 PM. 

 

PRESENT:  

T. Sartoretto  Mayor 

S. Nielsen  Councillor  

P. Wuest  Councillor 

R. Schwartz  Councillor 

G. Othmer  Councillor 

M. Harrison  Councillor 

G. Bigelow  Councillor 

 

STAFF:            Candice Bedard, CAO 

   

The meeting was called to order at 6:30 pm by Mayor T. Sartoretto   

 

 

ADOPTION OF THE AGENDA 

15-079 
MOVED BY:   M. Harrison  
SECONDED BY:   P. Wuest 
BE IT RESOLVED THAT: The regular council meeting Agenda dated April 7, 2015 be adopted as amended. 
           CARRIED 
 

DECLARATION OF CONFLICT OR PECUNIARY INTEREST 

Councillor Harrison declared conflict of interest on item 11a). 
 

ADOPTION OF THE MINUTES 

15-080 
MOVED BY:    P. Wuest 
SECONDED BY:    M. Harrison 
BE IT RESOLVED THAT:  The Minutes of the Regular meeting of Council held on April 7, 2015 be adopted as 
amended. 
           CARRIED 
15-081 
MOVED BY:    G. Othmer 
SECONDED BY:    M. Harrison 
BE IT RESOLVED THAT:  The Minutes of the Special Meeting of Council held on April 21, 2015 be adopted as 
presented. 
           CARRIED 

 

BUSINESS ARISING FROM THE MINUTES 

None 

 

PRESENTATIONS AND DELEGATIONS 

a) Presentation by John Pitcher and Larry Maclaren on behalf of TransCanada Pipeline. 



Minutes for the Regular Meeting of Council on April 28, 2015 Page 2 of 6 

15-082 
MOVED BY:    G. Bigelow 
SECONDED BY:    G. Othmer 
BE IT RESOLVED THAT:  The Minutes of the Special Meeting of Council held on April 21, 2015 be adopted as 
presented WHEREAS TransCanada Pipelines Limited has put forward an application to develop the Energy 
East Pipeline which would convert an existing natural gas pipeline into oil and construction of new pipeline;  
 
AND WHEREAS the Ministry of Energy has mandated the Ontario Energy Board to examine and report on 
TransCanada Pipelines Limited’s project through a consultation process;  
 
AND WHEREAS this pipeline would have significant impacts across Northern Ontario;  
 
AND WHEREAS research has demonstrated that fewer accidents occur while transporting oil by pipeline as 
opposed to alternate modes of transportation such as road or rail;  
 
AND WHEREAS TransCanada has demonstrated their commitment to pipeline safety for communities, 
residents and employees through safety and preventative maintenance programs;  
 
AND WHEREAS the Energy East project would generate significant economic benefits to Northeastern Ontario 
and the City of Temiskaming Shores by providing direct and indirect jobs during the six year development and 
construction phase and during the forty year operations phase;  
 
AND WHEREAS the Federation of Northern Ontario Municipalities (FONOM) supports the development of the 
Energy East Pipeline; 
 
NOWE THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED THAT:  Council receives the presentation by the Energy East 
Pipeline; AND FURTHER THAT:  that the Council for the Town of Cobalt hereby supports the development of 
the Energy East Pipeline; AND BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that this resolution be sent to the Minister of 
Energy, Minister of Northern Development and Mines and the Leaders of the Opposition Parties.. 
           DEFERRED 
 

REPORTS, RESOLUTIONS AND DISCUSSION ITEMS PRESENTED BY COUNCIL COMMITTEES 

 

6.1 Mayor’s Update 

 a)  Graduation Awards 
15-083 
MOVED BY:   M. Harrison  
SECONDED BY:   P. Wuest 
WHEREAS: The standard practice has been to sponsor graduation awards for TDSS, ESCSM and St 
Patrick School; BE IT RESOLVED THAT:  Council approve the 2015 graduation awards. 
           CARRIED 
The Mayor reported that the Community Hub has progressed with initial stages of a steering committee being 
established.  She also reported on the most recent CCEAC meeting at which Agnico provided information 
about 7 new closure plans.  Trio Resources was also in attendance and provided information on their project 
located in Coleman Township.  She attended a DTSSAB meeting and will be attending FONOM in Sudbury at 
her own expense. 
 

6.2 Finance and Public Safety 

a) Councillor Othmer provided a brief update on the budget review process and announced the next meeting 
is scheduled for Thursday, April 30 at 8:30am. 
 

b) Rent Increase for Fraser and Trailer Park 
15-084 
MOVED BY:    P. Wuest 
SECONDED BY:    R. Schwartz 
BE IT RESOLVED THAT:  Council approves the 1.6% increase in rent for both the Trailer Park and the Town 



Minutes for the Regular Meeting of Council on April 28, 2015 Page 3 of 6 

of Cobalt tenants in the Fraser. 
           CARRIED 
 

6.3 Public Works and Safety 

a)  Councillor Bigelow reported that two new policies are currently being reviewed for sewage and waste 
management. 
 

b) Amnesty Week 
Councillor Bigelow reported that amnesty week would take place during the week of May 12-16, 2015 and 
shared the memo that will be distributed to residents. 
 

6.4 Culture, Tourism & Heritage 

a) Bunker 
Councillor Harrison reported that the Bunker is receiving a new laptop through the Cultural Coordinator in 
Temiskaming Shores and there would be a Mother’s Day hosted by the Bunker on May 9th, 2015 from 1-
4pm. 

 

b) Mining Museum 
Councillor Harrison expressed concern over the Museum’s intent to sell silver bars. 
 

6.5 Economic Development & Property Management 
Councillor Wuest is looking forward to working with the new Economic Development Officer and prioritizing 
projects for Cobalt. 
 

6.6 Housing & Social Services 
Councillor Schwartz is meeting with the Social Services Committee  on  April 30 at 11am and anticipates 
submitting a proposal to Council at the next meeting. 
 
Councillor Schwartz will also attend a meeting with a representative of CMHC to discuss affordable 
housing is scheduled for Friday, May 1, 2015 at 11am.  

 
6.7 Recreation 

a) Recreation Committee Appointments   
15-085 
MOVED BY:    P. Wuest 
SECONDED BY:    R. Schwartz  
WHEREAS: The Recreation Committee deems it expedient to maintain two seats for representatives of the 
public, with effort to appoint members that represent a socio-demographic diversity ;  AND WHEREAS: The 
Committee has nominated Jessica Labelle and Carole Sartoretto; BE IT RESOLVED THAT:  Council hereby 
appoints Jessica Labelle and Carole Sartoretto to the Recreation Committee for the duration of the term of 
Council.             
           CARRIED 
 
Councillor Nielsen reported that she is working to set up a meeting with the Health Unit to finalize details on the 
Recreation Survey.  Councillor Schwartz suggested the inclusion of questions on accessibility.  Councillor 
Wuest announced that an open house would be held on May 23, 2015 to promote the improvements to the 
Hoist Room. 

 

Outside Boards, Committees and Commissions 

a) Transit Committee 
15-086 
MOVED BY:    M. Harrison 
SECONDED BY:    R. Schwartz 
BE IT RESOLVED THAT: the Council of the Town of Cobalt acknowledges receipt of Administrative Report 
2015-05; AND WHEREAS the Temiskaming Transit Committee has been exploring various options for the 



Minutes for the Regular Meeting of Council on April 28, 2015 Page 4 of 6 

replacement of transit buses; AND WHEREAS the Transit Committee at its’ April 27, 2015 meeting carried a 
recommendation that two (2) new New Flyer 35 foot accessible transit buses be purchased from Girardin 
Ontario Inc.;  NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED THAT:  the Council hereby approves the acquisition of 
two (2) new 35 foot accessible buses from Girardin Ontario Inc. at a price of $341,678 per unit, plus applicable 
taxes along with the additional extended warranty, training and tooling kit packages totaling $40,100  plus 
applicable taxes.            
           CARRIED 
 

SCHEDULE OF ACCOUNTS 

15-087 
MOVED BY:    M. Harrison 
SECONDED BY:    G. Bigelow 
BE IT RESOLVED THAT:  

1. That the accounts as per Schedule No. 15-09 in the amount of $51,765.40 be paid after receiving 
Council approval. 

           CARRIED 
 

 

CORRESPONDENCE FOR COUNCIL COMMENT 

15-088 
MOVED BY:    G. Bigelow 
SECONDED BY:    M. Harrison 
BE IT RESOLVED THAT:  Council receives the Cobalt Mining Museum report on the silver bars intended for 
sale.              
           CARRIED 
 

CORRESPONDENCE FOR COUNCIL INFORMATION 

15-089 
MOVED BY:    G. Bigelow 
SECONDED BY:    P. Wuest  
BE IT RESOLVED THAT: The correspondence for Council Information items be noted, filed and recorded in 
the minutes of this meeting. 

CARRIED 
April 1/15 Lisa Thompson, MPP Bill 66: Great Lakes Protection Act, 2015 15-50 

April 1/15 Michel Chan, Minister of 
Citizenship, Immigration and 
International Trade 

Lincoln M. Alexander Award 2015 15-51 

April 1/15 CUPE Collective Agreement Renewal  15-52 

April 7/15 Monika Tobler - Hydro One Forestry Maintenance Program 15-53 

April 7/15 Ontario Provincial Police Launch of OPP text with 9-1-1 Service 15-54 

April 8/15 Sylvia Jones, MPP Bill 36 Respecting Private Property Act 15-55 

April 9/15 Clayton Seymour, Chief 
Building Official 

2015 Building Permits 15-56 

April 17/15 Marie Gutscher Bikers Reunion, Early Bird Ride 15-57 

April 20/15 Marie Gutscher Bikers Reunion – Early Bird Ride 15-59 

April  21/15 Cobalt Mining Museum Financial Statement 2015 15-60 

April 24/15 Animal Control Officer Reportable Occurrence Tracking 15-61 

 
 

BY-LAWS 

a) By-Law 2015-011: Media Policy  
15-090 
MOVED BY:    M. Harrison 
SECONDED BY:    G. Bigelow 
BE IT RESOLVED THAT: By-law 2015-011 being a by-law to adopt a Media Policy for the Town of Cobalt be 
given first reading on this 28th day of April, 2015. 



Minutes for the Regular Meeting of Council on April 28, 2015 Page 5 of 6 

           CARRIED 

b) By-Law 2015-012: Extension Agreement  
15-091 
MOVED BY:    R. Schwartz 
SECONDED BY:    G. Bigelow 
BE IT RESOLVED THAT: By-law No. 2015-012, being a by-law to authorize the execution of a tax arrears 
extension agreement pursuant to Section 378 of the Municipal Act, 2001 be taken as a first, second and third 
time and finally passed this 28th day of April 2015; AND FURTHER THAT: the said by-law be signed by the 
Mayor and CAO and recorded in the by-law book. 
           CARRIED 
 

ON-GOING BUSINESS 

a) Co-Tem Proposal  
15-092 
MOVED BY:    G. Bigelow 
SECONDED BY:    R. Schwartz 
BE IT RESOLVED THAT: the Council of the Town of Cobalt hereby approve the itemized response to Co-
Tem’s counter proposal on the shared arrangements for the Fraser Housing Complex; AND FURTHER THAT 
the CAO be authorized to prepare and send  the response to Co-Tem. 
           CARRIED 

 

NOTICE OF MOTION  

None. 
 

 

CLOSED SESSION 

15-093 
MOVED BY:    G. Bigelow 
SECONDED BY:    R. Schwartz 
BE IT RESOLVED THAT: this Regular Council Meeting proceed in Camera at  8:45 p.m. under section 239 
of the Municipal Act, 2001 as amended in order to address a matter pertaining to subsection: 

employees - 
Senior of the Year Award Recommendation from 

– Contract Negotiations 
           CARRIED 
15-094 
MOVED BY:    G. Othmer 
SECONDED BY:    G. Bigelow 
BE IT RESOLVED THAT:  The regular meeting of Council resume at 9:10 pm. 
           CARRIED 

 
OTHER BUSINESS 

a) Senior of the Year Award 
15-095 
MOVED BY:    G. Bigelow 
SECONDED BY:    G. Othmer 
BE IT RESOLVED THAT:  Council approve the recommendation for the 2015 Senior of the Year Award. 
           CARRIED 

 
b) Appointment of Negotiations Committee       
Res 15-096 
MOVED BY:    G. Bigelow 
SECONDED BY:    G. Othmer 
BE IT RESOLVED THAT:  Council hereby appoints the following members of the 2015 Contract Negotiations 
Committee: Mayor Sartoretto, the CAO and the Director of Public Works. 



Minutes for the Regular Meeting of Council on April 28, 2015 Page 6 of 6 

           CARRIED 
     

CONFIRMATION BY-LAW 

15-097 
MOVED BY:    G. Othmer 
SECONDED BY:    G. Bigelow 
BE IT RESOLVED THAT: By-law No. 2015-013, being a by-law to confirm the proceedings of Council of the 
Corporation of the Town of Cobalt, be taken as read a first, second and third time and finally passed this 28th 
day of April 2015; AND FURTHER THAT: the said by-law be signed by the Mayor and CAO and recorded in the 
by-law book. 
           CARRIED 

ADJOURNMENT 

15-098 
MOVED BY:    G. Bigelow 
SECONDED BY:    G. Othmer 
BE IT RESOLVED THAT:  The meeting adjourn at 9:12pm 
           CARRIED 
 
 
              
          Mayor 
 
           ____________ 
          CAO 



Angela Hunter                   May 9, 2015 

P.O. Box 1689 

New Liskeard, On 

P0J1P0 

 

Dear Town of Cobalt Mayor and Council, 

 

Please grant my request to have local groups and associations run the Teck Prospect Park mini putt on a 

part time basis throughout the summer as a fundraising vehicle. 

 

I propose to organize the use of the mini‐putt on Saturday afternoons, from 11‐ 4:30 (to be confirmed) 

throughout the summer. I have contacted some community groups (girl guides, Cobalt Lions club) to 

gauge support for this idea and have received positive feedback which leads me to this request. From 

week to week a different group will take charge of running the mini putt. Hours and pricing will be 

consistent between groups with proceeds from each day to benefit the group running the event. 

I, with the help of volunteers, will spruce up the park and associated “buildings” which decorate the 

course if the town works department can transport and install the “buildings” as well as return them to 

storage for the winter.  

There will be 11 Saturdays in total from the end of June to the end of August to be filled. If this request 

is granted a wider call will be put out to community groups to sign up for a Saturday on a First Come 

First Served basis. I will field calls for requests and schedule the groups. Each group will be responsible 

for their own administration, cleaning of the site at the end of the day, and returning the clubs, balls and 

keys to a designated location to be determined which I will arrange.  

There are several benefits to Cobalt through the implementation this idea. Not only will locals and 

tourist be able to use the mini putt, but each group will be motivated to advertise and attract their 

supporters to their respective Saturday. This will increase traffic to Cobalt and showcase other great 

elements which exist, such as the water park, museums and respective historic sites.  

In order to organize the season it is essential to have a decision on this request during the May 19 

council meeting. 

 

Thank you for considering this request.  

Sincerely, 

Angela Hunter  

 

 























 

CORPORATION OF THE  
Town of Cobalt 

Report No. 
2015-06 

File No. 
 

Subject: Credit Card Payments 

Agenda Date: May 19, 2015 

Attachments:  

 
 
RECOMMENDATION 
 
That Council receives Administrative Report 2015-06 on Credit Card Payments and the 
recommendation by the Finance Committee to direct staff to implement a credit card payment system 
for the Town of Cobalt. 
 
BACKGROUND 
 
The addition of credit card payments to the methods of payment would enhance customer service by 
providing an additional payment method to enable residents to pay taxes, utilities, permits, rentals, 
memberships, etc. 
 
Furthermore, the collections process will also be enhanced with a method of collection that is often 
requested.  When an organization has limited staff, time and resources to spend on collections, it is 
counter-productive to allow a willing payee to walk away for the simple reason that the organization 
could not accept the form of payment. 
 
ANALYSIS 
 
SCENARIO #1: OCTOBER FEES, ONLY DEBIT 

 $25,886.09 in payments collected 
 128 transactions performed 

 

A) Settlement Fees 

 128 transactions x $0.02           2.56 

 6 terminal settlements x $0.25      1.50 

 140 use of machine (cancelled, attempts etc.) x $0.02       2.80 

 Total Transaction Fees $6.86 

B) Terminal Fees         $30.00 

C) Transactions Fees (Debit)  

 .15% x total dollars collected, $25,886.09  38.83 

 $.015 x transactions performed - 128     19.20 

 Total Transaction Fees $58.03 

TOTAL FEES FOR THE MONTH OF OCTOBER $94.89 



2 

 
 
SCENARIO #2: OCTOBER FEES, DEBIT AND ADD CREDIT 

 $25,886.09 in payments collected 
 128 transactions performed 
 $5,000 in transactions by credit card 

 

A) Settlement Fees (SAME) 

 128 transactions x $0.02           2.56 

 6 terminal settlements x $0.25      1.50 

 140 use of machine (cancelled, attempts etc.) x $0.02       2.80 

 Total Transaction Fees $6.86 

B) Terminal Fees (SAME)       $30.00 

C) Transactions Fees - Debit  

 .15% x total dollars collected, $20,886.09  31.33 

 $.015 x transactions performed - 108     16.20 

 Total Transaction Fees $47.53 

   

C) Transactions Fees - Debit  

 .28250% x total dollars collected, $5,000.00 14.13 

 $.015 x transactions performed - 20    3.00 

 Total Transaction Fees $17.13 

  

TOTAL FEES FOR THE MONTH OF OCTOBER $101.52 

 
 
 
FINANCIAL/STAFFING IMPLICATIONS 
 

The potential additional costs of credit card payments are outlined above.  Each credit card has a 
unique rate, therefore the rate provided above is an estimated average. 

 

This item has been approved in the current budget:  Yes   No   N/A  

This item is within the approved budgeted amount:  Yes   No   N/A  

 
 
ALTERNATIVES 
 
The alternative is simply to maintain status quo. 
 
 
Prepared By:    Reviewed and    

submitted by:    
 
 
Candice Bedard   Finance Committee    
     



 

CORPORATION OF THE  
Town of Cobalt 

Report No. 
2015-07 

File No. 
 

Subject: Insurance of Museum Vehicles 

Agenda Date: May 19, 2015 

Attachments: 1)  Municipal Insurance Provider – Opinion 
2)  2014 Memo – Insurance of Inappropriate Vehicles 

 
 
RECOMMENDATION 
 
That Council receives Administrative Report 2015-07 on the Insurance of the Museum Vehicles and the 
recommendation by the Finance Committee to cease the practice of insuring these vehicles under the 
Municipal Policy. 
 
 
BACKGROUND 
 
In 2014 two vehicles were insured under the municipal insurance umbrella – the Bunker’s Bren Gun 
Carrier and the Mining Museum’s Van. 
 
The Bren Gun Carrier was converted from a stationary artifact into a vehicle used for 
parades/ceremonies as well as tours for museum patrons.  This conversion was finalized in 2014, at 
which point the Bunker requested assistance from the Town in the form of insuring the vehicle. 
 
In 2014, Council was advised due to safety and liability concerns to decommission the Town owned 
cargo van that was being used primarily by the Mining Museum for their tours.  At that time, the Mining 
Museum purchased a used mini-van.  In order to facilitate the transition, the Town agreed to include the 
van under the fleet insurance, despite being cautioned by the insurer.   
 
 
ANALYSIS 
 
As the insurance is up for renewal, the insurer has provided a written opinion on both these scenarios. 
 
In addition to the financial, liability and risk issues, Council must also consider whether providing 
insurance for vehicles is a form of assistance for the museums which it deems appropriate.  In a difficult 
fiscal year, is this a valid use of tax payer dollars?   
 
Furthermore, while the cost of coverage may not be material, the cost ensuing from a claim could be 
significant in the form of a deductible pay-out and an increase to future insurance premiums. 
 

 
FINANCIAL/STAFFING IMPLICATIONS 



2 

 

 

This item has been approved in the current budget:  Yes   No   N/A  

This item is within the approved budgeted amount:  Yes   No   N/A  

 
 
ALTERNATIVES 
 
The alternative is simply to maintain status quo. 
 
 
Prepared By:    Reviewed and    

submitted by:    
 
 
Candice Bedard   Finance Committee    
     







ARENA PROPOSAL
PRESENTED TO THE FINANCE COMMITTEE

MAY 12, 2015

1. SUBJECT

The Cobalt Arena. 

2. RECOMMENDATION

Council approve the creation of a new committee, led by councillors Nielsen 
and Schwartz. This new committee would both create and implement a
successful and sustainable business, marketing and fundraising plan for the 
Cobalt Arena. 

The final decision to close or continue operation of the Cobalt Arena should 
not be made in the 2015 budget year. This new initiative requests deferral of 
a final decision to the 2016 budget year.

3. BACKGROUND

The Cobalt Arena is an important part of the culture, social fabric and health of 
the Cobalt community. The arena is also a symbol of our history and hockey 
heritage. 

The Cobalt Arena has never been specifically marketed or positively 
presented to the local region. 

The arena has been allowed to operate at an unacceptable subsidy level 
without any active intervention to reduce that subsidy and bring greater 
income to the facility.

The new committee will work over the coming year to correct these issues: 
The committee will increase income to the arena and reduce subsidy for the 
arena. We will make these changes through a volunteer driven initiative that 
will seek fundraising and infrastructure financing opportunities. The 
committee will also actively market the Cobalt Arena to the region to maximize 
local use. We will also conceive of and implement new uses/users for the 
arena ice surface. 

4. FINANCIAL/STAFFING IMPLICATIONS

The committee does not seek to use staff time for its initiatives. The committee 



will report regularly to Council and seek Council approval, where necessary, 
for initiatives and proposals. 

If we are successful, the Arena Attendant's services may be required for 
additional hours. Again, if we are successful, this will not cost the Town more 
money but will indicate a greater level of income flowing to our arena.

Prepared By:

Councillors, Sue Nielsen and Rochelle Schwartz 



LINE 

#

DESCRIPTION 2013 

ACTUAL

2014 

BUDGET

2014 

ACTUAL

2015 

BUDGET

           OPERATING REVENUE

1 General Levy - Res/Farm 323,264$                333,000$                329,432$              357,245$               

2 General Levy - Commercial/Industrial 25,187$                  26,000$                  26,149$                25,479$                 

3 General Levy - Write Off -$                           (1,021)$                (1,000)$                  

4 General Levy - Supplements -$                           3,179$                  -$                           

5 General Levy - Multi-Residential 21,528$                  24,500$                  26,268$                24,810$                 

6 General Levy - Pipelines 6,176$                    7,000$                    6,203$                  5,308$                   

7 Taxes - Interest 18,431$                  18,000$                  21,392$                20,000$                 

8 Administration - User Fees 172$                       200$                       78$                      100$                      

9 Public Works - User Fees and Reimbursements 13,796$                  3,000$                    2,690$                  3,000$                   

10 Garbage - Residential 78,273$                  78,000$                  77,749$                105,265$               

11 Garbage - Commercial 7,860$                    8,000$                    7,860$                  10,606$                 

12 Street Light - Residential 26,986$                  27,000$                  26,689$                27,000$                 

13 Street Light - Commercial 900$                       900$                       900$                     900$                      

14 OPP - user fees 247,199$                270,000$                268,288$              270,000$               

15 Landfill site - User Fees 434$                       500$                       2,305$                  2,500$                   

16 Recreation - Donations, user fees 2,478$                    2,500$                    1,105$                  1,000$                   

17 Flow through revenue -$                           4,079$                  3,000$                   

18 Reimbursements for expenses -$                           12,018$                12,000$                 

19 Fire Department - user fees 882$                       1,000$                    810$                     800$                      

20 Arena - Ice Rentals 49,271$                  50,000$                  32,708$                16,530$                 

21 Arena - Canteen rent -$                           525$                     350$                      

22 Hoist Room - User Fees 22,000$                  24,000$                  25,021$                25,000$                 

23 Community Hall Rentals 2,230$                    2,500$                    2,609$                  2,500$                   

24 Federal Grants 3,663$                    65,613$                  8,524$                  2,000$                   

25 Provincial Grants 12,725$                  27,691$                  21,132$                11,373$                 

26 Wetlands - Operating 72,679$                  73,000$                  72,198$                93,300$                 

27 Water - Residential 204,429$                204,000$                203,730$              235,930$               

28 Water - Capital 49,308$                  49,000$                  49,048$                56,680$                 

29 Wetlands - Capital 18,989$                  18,000$                  18,859$                24,400$                 

30 Water - Commercial/Industrial 14,904$                  15,000$                  14,376$                16,850$                 

31 Water - Coleman 20,304$                  20,000$                  20,628$                20,000$                 

32 Latchford water charges 90,979$                  -$                           -$                         -$                           

33 Water - Interest 1,306$                    1,300$                    1,348$                  1,300$                   

34 Water Other 12,204$                16,000$                 

35 Sewer Other

36 PIL - Commercial/Industrial 1,157$                    -$                           1,068$                  1,000$                   

37 PIL - Ontario Northland 1,219$                    1,219$                    1,206$                  1,200$                   

38 PIL - MNR 7$                          7$                          -$                         -$                           

39 OMPF - Ontario Municipal Partnership Fund 934,700$                899,300$                899,300$              899,300$               

40 On/off charges Water/Sewer 875$                       1,000$                    1,350$                  1,300$                   

41 Trailer Park 23,987$                  24,000$                  24,509$                24,500$                 

42 Dr's contract-Township of Coleman 2,954$                    3,000$                    6,000$                  6,000$                   

43 Building Permits 1,956$                    200$                       2,266$                  2,300$                   

44 Fraser - Rentals 67,358$                  68,000$                  54,739$                52,000$                 

45 Fraser - reimbursements/other revenue -$                           30,035$                20,000$                 

46 Lottery Licence 2,462$                    2,000$                    1,737$                  1,800$                   



47 Rental Buildings 8,160$                    10,000$                  7,903$                  2,142$                   

48 RV Trailer Park 40$                         50$                         10$                      -$                           

49 Fines/NSF 225$                       250$                       75$                      75$                        

50 Interest/Investment received - Bank (348)$                     1,500$                    12,276$                1,500$                   

51 Miscellaneous Revenue 54,188$                  30,000$                  1,419$                  1,400$                   

52 Sale of Property -$                           -$                           3,488$                  129,211$               

53 Accounts Receivable - Interest -$                           

54 Election 2014 -$                           -$                           1,600$                  -$                           

55 Silverland Cemetery - Sale of Plots -$                           -$                           -$                         -$                           

56 Silverland Cemetery - Internment Fees -$                           -$                           -$                         -$                           

57 Silverland Cemetery - Perpetual Care Fees -$                           -$                           -$                         -$                           

58 Silverland Cemetery - Donations -$                           -$                           -$                         -$                           

59 Silverland Cemetery - Marker/Stone, Care -$                           -$                           -$                         -$                           

60 Silverland Cemetery - Provincial License -$                           -$                           -$                         -$                           

61 Sale of Materials and Supplies 28,062$                  60,000$                  49,860$                40,000$                 

62 Tax Certificates 1,990$                    2,500$                    1,440$                  1,400$                   

63 Provincial Offences 23,550$                  25,000$                  19,874$                19,000$                 

64 TOTAL OPERATING REVENUE 2,488,894$             2,477,730$             2,419,237$           2,594,354$            

65 CAPITAL REVENUE

66 Gas Tax - Federal/AMO 61,432$                  103,000$                102,507$              69,413$                 

67 Fed Nor Business Centre 83,677$                  -$                           -$                         -$                           

68 Lang Street Rehabilitiation/Retaining Wall 11,846$                  1,700,000$             1,577,846$           481,924$               

69 OCIF - Projects 27,691$                 

70 Asset Management -$                           34,270$                  42,439$                -$                           

71 Ontario Trillium Fund 44,200$                  -$                           -$                         15,500$                 

72 Community Development Officer -$                           29,000$                  26,365$                -$                           

73 Historic Cobalt Branding Project -$                           -$                         38,792$                 

74 Environmental Tech -$                           4,600$                  26,239$                 

75 Curbside - CIBC Finance -$                           66,285$                -$                           

76 CIBC Bridge Finance - Lang St -$                           274,000$              -$                           

77 Infrastructure Ontario/Lang St - Short Term 261,694$               

78 Infrastructure Ontario/Lang St - Long Term 249,236$               

79 CCL Economic Development 71,963$                 

80 TOTAL CAPITAL REVENUE 201,155$                1,866,270$             2,094,043$           1,242,451$            

81 TOTAL REVENUE OP&CAP 2,690,049$      4,344,000$      4,513,280$     3,836,805$      

82

83 EXPENSES

84 OPERATING EXPENSES

85 Council - salaries 17,409$                  17,500$                  18,069$                18,100$                 

86 Council - benefits 730$                       750$                       787$                     790$                      

87 Council - travel/mileage 208$                       1,000$                    229$                     300$                      

88 TOTAL COUNCIL 18,346$            19,250$            19,085$          19,190$            

89 Admin - salaries 86,318$                  82,000$                  84,475$                101,119$               

90 Admin - vacation 10,218$                  -$                           8,799$                  -$                           

91 Admin - benefits 12,589$                  20,000$                  21,234$                33,582$                 

92 Admin - sick leave 476$                       -$                           1,831$                  -$                           

93 Admin- overtime banked -$                           5,391$                  -$                           

94 Admin - office supplies 7,648$                    5,000$                    5,001$                  5,000$                   

95 Admin - cleaning/mtce 175$                       300$                       292$                     300$                      



96 Admin - communications 12,638$                  10,000$                  8,631$                  10,000$                 

97 Admin - prof service/consulting 37,789$                  36,000$                  43,451$                50,000$                 

98 Admin - travel/mileage 3,123$                    2,000$                    1,378$                  1,600$                   

99 Admin - rental, mtce 13,756$                  13,000$                  12,229$                13,000$                 

100 Admin - advertising 9,175$                    4,000$                    2,840$                  3,000$                   

101 Admin - membership 3,417$                    2,500$                    1,899$                  2,000$                   

102 Admin - insurance 16,266$                  16,000$                  15,342$                16,000$                 

103 Admin - other services 4,743$                    4,500$                    2,354$                  2,500$                   

104 Admin - training/seminars 3,151$                    4,000$                    2,432$                  4,000$                   

105 Election 2014 15$                         3,000$                    4,013$                  -$                           

106 Admin - bank charges 2,552$                    2,500$                    2,826$                  3,000$                   

107 Admin - Bad debts (recovery) -$                           -$                           8,333$                  -$                           

108 Admin - trans to capital fund -$                           -$                           6,390$                  -$                           

109 Admin - trans to reserves -$                           -$                           -$                         -$                           

110 Year end Surplus/Deficit -$                           -$                           -$                         -$                           

111 TOTAL ADMIN 224,048$          204,800$          239,142$        245,101$         

112 Mun Bldgs - salaries 29,592$                  18,000$                  17,921$                23,000$                 

113 Mun Bldgs - benefits 5,641$                    3,000$                    3,160$                  6,273$                   

114 Mun Bldgs - materials/supplies 11,561$                  12,500$                  11,786$                13,000$                 

115 Mun Bldgs - utilities 29,235$                  30,000$                  35,207$                33,000$                 

116 Street Lights 38,188$                  38,000$                  43,112$                38,000$                 

117 Mun Bldgs - services & rents 38,264$                  35,000$                  26,476$                37,000$                 

118 Mun Bldgs - communications 1,676$                    1,700$                    1,045$                  1,500$                   

119 FRASER- operating expenses 34,599$                  14,000$                  26,723$                30,000$                 

120 FRASER - utilities 16,845$                  20,000$                  13,511$                16,000$                 

121 FRASER - Manager's Services 16,492$                  10,000$                  15,192$                15,000$                 

122 Community Hall - refunds 600$                       600$                       1,100$                  1,000$                   

123 TOTAL MUNICIPAL BUILDINGS 222,694$          182,800$          195,233$        213,773$         

124 Fire - salaries 27,772$                  28,000$                  28,141$                28,200$                 

125 Fire - benefits 5,098$                    5,100$                    4,759$                  4,800$                   

126 Fire - office supplies 54$                         800$                       157$                     400$                      

127 Fire - utilities 6,011$                    5,800$                    8,034$                  8,000$                   

128 Fire - cleaning, mtce 1,031$                    1,000$                    2,480$                  1,500$                   

129 Fire - new equipment 6,023$                    7,000$                    11,978$                8,000$                   

130 Fire - communications 2,648$                    4,000$                    3,190$                  3,500$                   

131 Fire - travel/mileage 986$                       1,000$                    934$                     1,000$                   

132 Fire - repairs, mtce 3,317$                    4,000$                    5,005$                  6,000$                   

133  Fire - memberships 200$                       200$                       210$                     300$                      

134 Fire - insurance 7,644$                    7,700$                    7,684$                  7,700$                   

135 Fire - other services 2,449$                    4,000$                    3,634$                  3,500$                   

136 Fire - training/seminars 5,673$                    6,000$                    5,209$                  5,200$                   

137 TOTAL FIRE 68,905$            74,600$            81,415$          78,100$            

138 Public Safety - salaries 4,750$                    5,000$                    4,725$                  4,800$                   

139 Public Safety - benefits 101$                       150$                       139$                     150$                      

140 Public Safety - OPP costs 313,318$                365,000$                360,315$              335,628$               

141 Public Safety - Animal Control 2,250$                    12,000$                  10,661$                12,240$                 

142 Public Safety - Bldg, By-Law, other 7,290$                    7,000$                    7,103$                  12,000$                 

143 TOTAL PUBLIC SAFETY 415,896$          485,650$          486,099$        364,818$         

144 Public Works - salaries 151,419$                196,000$                127,984$              188,300$               



145 Public Works - Vacation 34,266$                  -$                           27,751$                -$                           

146 Public Works - benefits 61,111$                  53,000$                  57,266$                58,976$                 

147 Public Works - Sick Leave 8,561$                    -$                           6,728$                  -$                           

148 Plow/Sander Loan - principal -$                           42,000$                  42,200$                42,200$                 

149 Plow/Sander Loan - Interest 1,422$                    8,280$                    7,383$                  6,200$                   

150 Public Works - overtime banked 46,880$                  -$                           36,850$                -$                           

151 Public Works - materials/supplies 26,602$                  28,000$                  16,360$                28,000$                 

152 Public Works - office supplies 1,076$                    1,500$                    1,293$                  1,500$                   

153 Public Works - utilities 7,307$                    8,000$                    9,119$                  9,250$                   

154 Public Works - road materials 11,149$                  15,500$                  20,786$                25,000$                 

155 Public Works - vehicle costs 45,120$                  38,500$                  36,300$                39,500$                 

156 Public Works - prof services 5,501$                    4,500$                    7,388$                  24,500$                 

157 Public Works - Communications 3,900$                    4,071$                  4,250$                   

158 Public Works - travel/mileage -$                           2,500$                    518$                     1,000$                   

159 Public Works - repairs, mtce 24,203$                  25,500$                  12,204$                26,500$                 

160 Public Works - memberships 628$                       650$                       601$                     650$                      

161 Public Works - insurance 17,325$                  18,500$                  18,558$                19,000$                 

162 Public Works - other services 9,967$                    13,000$                  7,780$                  15,000$                 

163 Public Works - training/seminars 1,488$                    7,500$                    4,652$                  6,000$                   

164 TOTAL PUBLIC WORKS 454,024$          466,830$          445,793$        495,826$         

165 Transit 20,811$                  20,811$                  21,001$                23,252$                 

166 Airport Fees 5,851$                    6,011$                    6,011$                  8,769$                   

167 TOTAL TRANSPORTATION 26,662$            26,822$            27,012$          32,021$            

168 Sewers - salaries 56,984$                  77,000$                  67,184$                72,456$                 

169 Sewers - benefits 19,076$                  23,000$                  17,848$                23,307$                 

170 Sewers - supplies/samples 20,609$                  26,500$                  27,575$                26,500$                 

171 Sewers - utilities 2,994$                    2,800$                    3,137$                  3,300$                   

172 Sewers - services/rents -$                           1,500$                    1,544$                  2,500$                   

173 Sewers - prof/consulting 2,694$                    7,500$                    5,061$                  7,500$                   

174 Sewers - training/seminars 618$                       1,800$                    75$                      1,500$                   

175 Sewers - trans to capital fund -$                           -$                           2,875$                  -$                           

176 TOTAL SEWER 102,975$          140,100$          125,299$        137,063$         

177 Water - salaries 141,440$                143,000$                120,690$              122,456$               

178 Water - benefits 40,245$                  40,000$                  30,923$                38,967$                 

179 OSIFA - principal -$                           33,981$                  38,890$                40,681$                 

180 OSIFA - Interest 9,903$                    13,102$                  8,192$                  6,400$                   

181 Water - supplies/samples 59,469$                  59,000$                  64,889$                65,000$                 

182 Water - utilities 43,817$                  43,000$                  56,564$                57,000$                 

183 Water - services/rents 897$                       1,500$                    414$                     1,500$                   

184 Water - communications 1,603$                    1,800$                    1,603$                  1,750$                   

185 Water - training/seminars 3,653$                    4,800$                    1,895$                  4,800$                   

186 Water - trans to capital fund -$                           -$                           9,979$                  -$                           

187 TOTAL WATER 301,026$          340,183$          334,039$        338,554$         

188 Garbage Collection/Disposal - salaries 21,741$                  22,000$                  21,250$                

189 Garbage Collection/Disposal - benefits 5,656$                    6,000$                    5,343$                  

190 Landfill/Recycling -  prof services/contracts 26,694$                  27,000$                  54,279$                

191 Landfill - Reserve 7,000$                    7,000$                    4,804$                  

192 Landfill Fees 18,000$                37,200$                 

193 Recycling Fees 26,400$                 



194 Collection Fees 93,000$                 

195 Waste Management Other 1,000$                   

196 TOTAL WASTE MANAGEMENT 61,092$            62,000$            103,675$        157,600$         

197 Ontario Works - DSSAB 83,940$                  84,000$                  82,561$                86,208$                 

198 Social Housing - DSSAB 51,593$                  55,000$                  54,229$                56,220$                 

199 Childcare - DSSAB 12,776$                  13,000$                  7,239$                  8,196$                   

200 Timiskaming Health Unit 47,432$                  48,000$                  47,432$                48,082$                 

201 Land Ambulance - DSSAB 66,785$                  67,000$                  71,235$                75,492$                 

202 Cemeteries - donations 8,849$                    6,000$                    6,000$                  6,000$                   

203 TOTAL SOCIAL & HEALTH 271,375$          273,000$          268,696$        280,198$         

204 Flow through expense from Revenue -$                           3,977$                  3,000$                   

205 Public Relations 4,491$                    4,000$                    2,911$                  4,000$                   

206 Planning & Development 608$                       1,000$                    1,181$                  1,500$                   

207 Municipal Property Assessment 16,397$                  18,000$                  16,559$                17,000$                 

208 Chamber of Commerce 2,000$                    2,000$                    2,000$                  2,000$                   

209 Mayor's Fund 5,759$                    10,000$                  8,092$                  8,581$                   

210 TOTAL OTHER 29,255$            35,000$            34,720$          36,081$            

211 Parks - salaries 15,240$                  20,000$                  16,792$                19,529$                 

212 Parks - benefits 1,199$                    1,500$                    1,109$                  1,500$                   

213 Parks - materials/supplies 2,516$                    4,000$                    3,365$                  7,500$                   

214 Parks - utilities 1,383$                    1,600$                    1,280$                  1,350$                   

215 Parks - services/rents 4,325$                    3,500$                    2,715$                  3,500$                   

216 TOTAL PARKS 24,664$            30,600$            25,261$          33,379$            

217 Arena - salaries 27,232$                  22,000$                  25,116$                15,000$                 

218 Arena - benefits 5,365$                    4,000$                    5,305$                  3,100$                   

219 Arena - materials/supplies 1,307$                    1,500$                    1,642$                  500$                      

220 Arena - office supplies -$                           250$                       29$                      -$                           

221 Arena - utilities 34,207$                  35,000$                  38,267$                20,000$                 

222 Arena - cleaning, mtce -$                           350$                       36$                      -$                           

223 Arena - services/rents 27,774$                  20,000$                  9,244$                  3,000$                   

224 Arena - communications 687$                       850$                       518$                     700$                      

225 Arena - prof/consulting -$                           -$                           -$                         4,000$                   

226 Arena - repairs, mtce -$                           750$                       51$                      751$                      

227 Arena - insurance 7,712$                    7,750$                    7,901$                  8,000$                   

228 Arena - other services 137$                       250$                       195$                     -$                           

229 TOTAL ARENA 104,423$          92,700$            88,304$          55,051$            

230 Recreation - programs/materials 2,687$                    3,000$                    4,921$                  3,000$                   

231 Recreation - Hoist Room 8,446$                    12,000$                  10,333$                12,000$                 

232 Recreation - insurance 2,255$                    2,255$                    2,276$                  2,300$                   

233 TOTAL RECREATION 13,388$            17,255$            17,529$          17,300$            

234 Bunker Military Museum - operating grant 10,000$                  10,000$                  10,000$                10,000$                 

235 Bunker Military Museum - other services -$                           1,398$                  1,500$                   

236 Theatre - operating grant 10,000$                  10,000$                  10,000$                10,000$                 

237 Theatre - other services 2,601$                    2,600$                    3,573$                  3,500$                   

238 Mining Museum - other services -$                           11,249$                11,300$                 

239 Mining Museum - operating grant 20,888$                  21,000$                  10,000$                10,000$                 

240 Library - other services -$                           3,526$                  4,000$                   

241 Library - operating grant 40,463$                  40,500$                  39,015$                40,000$                 

242 TOTAL CULTURE & HERITAGE 83,952$            84,100$            88,761$          90,300$            



243 TOTAL OPERATING EXPENSES 2,334,538$             2,439,190$             2,476,907$           2,594,354$            

244

245 CAPITAL EXPENSES

246 Lang Street Rehabilitiation/Retaining Wall 13,162$                  1,700,000$             1,753,037$           284,193$               

247 Ontario Trillium Fund - Hoist Room 49,635$                  -$                           -$                         20,658$                 

248 Capital - Municipal Direct 20,251$                 

249 OCIF - Projects 27,691$                 

250 Asset Management -$                           1,306$                    12,068$                -$                           

251 Gas Tax - Projects 42,377$                  103,000$                42,564$                69,413$                 

252 Historic Cobalt Branding Project -$                           2,766$                  46,000$                 

253 Environmental Tech -$                           5,125$                  27,000$                 

254 Curbside CIBC Loan - principal -$                           1,841$                  22,092$                 

255 Curbside CIBC Loan - interest -$                           197$                     2,364$                   

256 CIBC Bridge Finance/Lang St - principal -$                           -$                         274,000$               

257 CIBC Bridge Finance/ Lang St - interest -$                           -$                         1,840$                   

258 IO/Lang St - Principal - Short Term 261,694$               

259 IO/Lang St - Interest 1,500$                   

260 IO/Lang St - Principal - Long Term 12,000$                 

261 IO/Lang St - Interest 900$                      

262 CCL Economic Development - Wages & Benefits 55,200$                 

263 CCL Economic Development - Supplies 4,116$                   

264 CCL Economic Development - Travel 5,560$                   

265 CCL Economic Development - Public Relations 4,440$                   

266 CCL Economic Development - Professional 5,560$                   

267 TOTAL CAPITAL EXPENSES 105,174$                1,804,306$             1,817,599$           1,146,471$            

268

269 TOTAL EXPENSES OP&CAP 2,439,711$      4,243,496$      4,294,506$     3,740,825$      

2013 Actual 2014 Actual 2015 Budget % Change

COUNCIL 18,346$            19,085$            19,190$          0.55%

ADMIN 224,048$          239,142$          245,101$        2.49%

MUN BLDGS 222,694$          195,233$          213,773$        9.50%

FIRE 68,905$            81,415$            78,100$          -4.07%

PUBLIC SAFETY 415,896$          486,099$          364,818$        -24.95%

PUBLIC WORKS 454,024$          445,793$          495,826$        11.22%

TRANSPORTATION 26,662$            27,012$            32,021$          18.54%

SEWER 102,975$          125,299$          137,063$        9.39%

WATER 301,026$          334,039$          338,554$        1.35%

WASTE MANAGEMENT 61,092$            103,675$          157,600$        52.01%

SOCIAL & HEALTH SERVICES 271,375$          268,696$          280,198$        4.28%

OTHER 29,255$            34,720$            36,081$          3.92%

PARKS 24,664$            25,261$            33,379$          32.14%

ARENA 104,423$          88,304$            55,051$          -37.66%

RECREATION 13,388$            17,529$            17,300$          -1.31%

CULTURE & HERITAGE 83,952$            88,761$            90,300$          1.73%

TOTAL 2,404,379$       2,560,979$       2,594,354$     



COBALT COMMUNITY GARDEN
PRESENTED TO COBALT COUNCIL

MAY 19, 2015

1. SUBJECT

Cobalt Community Garden(s). 

2. RECOMMENDATION

The Housing and Social Services Committee is seeking permission to 
use municipal space to green the municipality. This project will involve a 
number of volunteers who have already demonstrated a level of interest 
that makes these projects achievable. 

3. BACKGROUND

Community gardens vary widely throughout the world. In North 
America, community gardens range from garden areas where people grow 
small plots of vegetables, to large projects to preserve natural areas, to 
tiny beautification planters on street corners. Some gardens grow only 
flowers while others grow flowers and vegetables.

The Housing and Social Services Committee is interested in pursuing 
small planting projects in Cobalt which will involve community members 
of all ages to beautify the Town and build community spirit and pride.

The committee has identified some potential spaces including the Golden 
Age Club for raised beds, the garden in the upper level of the cenotaph 
park and the area where the stairs came down to street level at the Fraser.

a) The Golden Age Club has plenty of unused space which at one time 
housed an RV park. It has not been used in a number of years. There is 
access to water and the grassy area could be used for raised beds. A 
community garden with flowers and vegetables could be situated there.

b) The committee is interested in weeding the garden on the upper level at 
the cenotaph park. This would involve pruning the existing bushes, 
planting additional flowers, shrubs and decorative vegetables. The height 
of this space makes it attractive for gardeners who have trouble getting to 



low garden beds.

c) The third project proposes building a garden at the corner of the Fraser 
Building where the stairs meet the sidewalk. This garden would require 
the construction of a masonry or wood retaining wall. This decorative 
garden could house junipers, tall perennials, etc. This planter would add 
colour to the downtown core.

These sites offer multiple planting opportunities. Depending on the level 
of community interest, this initiative has the potential to be a very
positive project for a number of our citizens.  There may be an 
opportunity to involve food bank patrons who might be interested in 
growing produce for themselves or their families. Such projects have been 
successful in other communities and can provide a positive outlet for 
some of our younger citizens.

The more people we involve in this project, the more successful it will be.

This project will convert unused tracts of land into a community 
asset.

4. FINANCIAL/STAFFING IMPLICATIONS

The committee does not seek to use staff time for its initiatives. The 
committee will report regularly to Council and seek Council approval, 
where necessary, for initiatives and proposals. 

The group would look after applications for funding and recruiting 
community volunteers to help build the gardens and maintain them.

The Committee will:
a) develop site plans (one plan of the site in its current state, and one of 
the envisioned project);
b) contact appropriate organizations for assistance, which may be in-kind;
c) create a maintenance schedule;
d) devise a list of site preparation needs, including tools, hardscape 
needs, plant needs and a tool storage plan.

Prepared By:

Councillor Rochelle Schwartz and The Housing and Social Services Committee 



 

 

To: Candice Bedard, Town of Cobalt 

From: Jamie Robinson, BES, MCIP, RPP 

Date: May 5, 2015 

File: 13164A 

Subject: Building Permit Application – 8 Lang Street 

 
 
We have had an opportunity to review the building permit application provided for 8 Lang Street, for 
compliance with the Town of Cobalt Zoning By-law that was enacted in 2006.  A summary of our review 
follows: 
 

1. The property is zoned Downtown Commercial (C1) in the Town of Cobalt Zoning By-law.   
 

2. The Downtown Commercial (C1) Zone permits a variety of non-residential uses, which are listed 
in Section 10 (1) b) of the By-law.  The uses listed in this Section are generally commercial uses 
that are typically found in downtown areas.  In addition to the commercial uses, an apartment 
building, a boarding house or an accessory dwelling unit is also permitted.   

 
3. The Zoning By-law defines an Accessory Dwelling Unit as follows: 

 
“means a dwelling unit which is part of, and accessory to, a permitted non-residential building other 
than a service station or a commercial garage.  Such dwelling shall be occupied either by the owner of 
such non-residential building or by a person employed on the premises where such dwelling unit is 
located.” 

 
4. The Zoning By-law does not permit apartments in commercial buildings, unless the apartment is 

considered accessory to the commercial use on the property.   
 

5. Based on the information provided by the Town of Cobalt, the building permit application 
proposes modifications to an apartment and not an accessory dwelling unit as defined in the By-
law.   

 
6. Section 16 of the Zoning By-law, which deals with non-conforming buildings and structures, 

indicates the apartment use on the property may be permitted to continue (grandfathered) if it 
can be demonstrated by the applicant that the accessory apartment was legally constructed 
prior to the enactment of a Zoning By-law covering the area of the Town of Cobalt.   

1 1 3  C O L L I E R  S T R E E T  /  B A R R I E  /  O N T A R I O  /  L 4 M  1 H 2  /  T  7 0 5  7 2 8  0 0 4 5  /  F  7 0 5  7 2 8  2 0 1 0  /  W W W . M H B C P L A N . C O M

MEMO
KITCHENER 
WOODBRIDGE 
LONDON 
KINGSTON 
BARRIE 
BURLINGTON 



 2 

 
7. It is our understanding, based on the information provided by the Town of Cobalt, that the first 

Zoning By-law was enacted in 1985 and was known as By-law 1985-19.   
 

8. On this basis, if the applicant can provide information detailing that the use legally existed prior 
to 1985, the use could be considered to be legal non-conforming and a building permit could 
be issued for the proposed renovations.  
 

9. If the use did not exist prior to 1985, or it cannot be demonstrated  that the use existed prior to 
1985, the applicant would be required to apply for an amendment to the Zoning By-law in order 
to legalize the apartment prior to the issuance of the building permit.   

 
10. It should be noted that the Zoning By-law also contains parking provisions for uses within the 

Downtown Commercial (C1) Zone.  The Downtown Commercial (C1) Zone requires 1.5 parking 
spaces per residential dwelling unit (apartment) and 1 parking space for each non-residential 
use.   

 
SUMMARY 
 

11. Based on the information that was provided by the Town of Cobalt and our review of the 2006 
Zoning By-law, a building permit cannot be issued for the proposed application as the use of the 
building is not a permitted use in accordance with the requirements of the Downtown 
Commercial (C1) Zone.  Should the applicant be able to demonstrate that the apartment use 
predates Zoning By-law 1985-19, a permit could be issued on the basis of the use being a legal, 
non-conforming use.   

 









 

 

 

CORRESPONDENCE 

FOR  

COMMENT 







 

 

 

CORRESPONDENCE 

FOR  

INFORMATION 

















































































































































Corporation of the Town of Cobalt 
Schedule No. 15‐10 

May 19, 2015 
 

CHEQUE 
NUMBER  PAYABLE TO:      RE:          AMOUNT  DEPT.  

 
3821    Bunker Military Museum  April operating grant          833.34  Hert/Tourism 
3822    Cobalt Mining Museum    April operating grant         833.34  Hert/Tourism  
3823    Cobalt Public Library    April operating grant      3,251.25  Culture/Rec 
3824    Shawn Hearn      April gas allowance           73.50  Fire Dept 
3825‐3847  Approved and paid on Schedule No. 15‐08 
    meeting of April 7, 2015 
3848    Crossing Guard      Wages March 30 – April 10, 2015     200.00  Public Safety 
3849    Resident       Reimburse for sewer repair       217.53  Works    
3850    Void cheque 
3851‐3890  Approved and paid on Schedule No. 15‐09 
    meeting of April 28, 2015 
3891    Crossing Guard      Wages April 13 – 24, 2015       225.00  Public Safety  
3892    CUPE Local 127      April union dues         350.00  Finance 
3893    WSIB        April remittance      1,967.57  Finance 
3894    Minister of Finance    April health tax remittance        892.93  Finance 
3895    Receiver General     April payroll deductions     13,888.88  Finance 
3896    OMERS       April pension plan remittance    7,004.18  Finance 
 
                Total      $29,737.58 
 
            Payrolls for the month of April    $45,774.98 
 
Preauthorized Payments 
    Union Gas:      Gas accounts Feb 6 to March  
    Train Station       2,394.27 
    Arena Electric       1,184.02 
    Fraser        2,479.50 
    Zamboni      529.70 
    Fire Hall      614.38 
    Municipal Office Bldg    2,074.86 
    Works Garage      948.58 
    Works Office      171.33          $10,396.64 
     
    Bell Wireless:      Cell phones to April 23 
    PWS        105.09 
    CAO        48.59 
    Leader A      48.59          $202.27 
 
    Hydro One:      Hydro accounts Feb 12 to March 14 
    Fire Museum      157.25 
    Zamboni      93.95 
    Lagoon Out take    59.84 
    Fire Hall      443.32 
    Lagoon Out take    320.83 
    Town Park      41.67 
    Garage        362.68 



    Water Tower      581.20 
    Mun Office Bldg    1,016.32 
    Train Station       306.25 
    Arena Electric      1,044.79 
    Headframe      261.17          $4,689.27 
 
    Hydro One:       
    Teck Park      41.67   Feb 13 to March 17 
    Fraser Main Floor    92.67  Feb 18 to March 19    $134.37   
     
    Union Gas:       
    Fire Museum      383.28  March 10 to April 9    $383.28 
 
                Total      $91,318.39 
 
     
 
    That the accounts as per Schedule No. 15‐10 in the amount of $91,318.39 be  
    approved as paid in the month of April, 2015.  
     
       
 
     
   
     
     
 
     
     
     
   
 

 



Town of Cobalt 
A/P Preliminary Cash Disbursements 
Schedule No. 15-11   May 19, 2015 

  
 Vendor Invoice Number Date Gross Amount Discount Net Amount Method 
 37 A & B Digital Printing, PO Box 1120, New Liskeard, ON, P0J 1P0 
 63486 5/19/2015 $213.57 $0.00 $213.57 Cheque 
 63487 5/19/2015 $72.23 $0.00 $72.23 Cheque 

 Total Vendor Payment: $285.80 $0.00 $285.80   
 38 Accuracy Environmental Laboratories Ltd., PO Box 426, 1470 Government Road W., Kirkland Lake, ON, P2N 3J1 
 32164 5/19/2015 $973.12 $0.00 $973.12 Cheque 
 32165 5/19/2015 $531.69 $0.00 $531.69 Cheque 

 Total Vendor Payment: $1,504.81 $0.00 $1,504.81  
 206 Acklands Grainger, , P.O. Box 2970, Winnipeg, ON, R3C 4B5 
 0371 0314067 5/19/2015 $265.32 $0.00 $265.32 Cheque 

 Total Vendor Payment: $265.32 $0.00 $265.32   
 407 AECOM Canada Ltd., C/O T10002C, P.O. Box 10002, Postal Station A, Toronto, ON, M5W 2B1 
 38208435 5/19/2015 $3,566.64 $0.00 $3,566.64 Cheque 

 Total Vendor Payment: $3,566.64 $0.00 $3,566.64  
 304 Arnstein Industrial Equipment Limited, P.O. Box 1258, 100 Highway 17 East at 11 South, North Bay, ON, P1B 8K5 
 02-36038 5/19/2015 $1,636.70 $0.00 $1,636.70 Cheque 

 Total Vendor Payment: $1,636.70 $0.00 $1,636.70  
 70 B & G Industrial Services Ltd., PO Box 1585, Hwy 65 E, New Liskeard, ON, P0J 1P0 
 4251 5/19/2015 $672.35 $0.00 $672.35 Cheque 

 Total Vendor Payment: $672.35 $0.00 $672.35   
 39 Breault's Discount Warehouse, PO Box 1287, 74 Scott Street, New Liskeard, ON, P0J 1P0 
 18279 5/19/2015 $184.12 $0.00 $184.12 Cheque 

 Total Vendor Payment: $184.12 $0.00 $184.12   
 174 Canadian TODS  Limited, 120 Whitmore Rd., Unit 8, Woodbridge, ON, L4L 6A3 
 6135 5/19/2015 $345.78 $0.00 $345.78 Cheque 
 6215 5/19/2015 $345.78 $0.00 $345.78 Cheque 
 6216 5/19/2015 $345.78 $0.00 $345.78 Cheque 
 6217 5/19/2015 $345.78 $0.00 $345.78 Cheque 
 6218 5/19/2015 $345.78 $0.00 $345.78 Cheque 

 Total Vendor Payment: $1,728.90 $0.00 $1,728.90   
 72 CGIS Spatial Solutions, 52 South Street, Perth, ON, K7H 2G7 
 42156 5/19/2015 $290.68 $0.00 $290.68 Cheque 

 Total Vendor Payment: $290.68 $0.00 $290.68   
 43 City of Temiskaming Shores, PO Box 2050, 325 Farr Drive, Haileybury, ON, P0J 1K0 
 44314 5/19/2015 $1,822.13 $0.00 $1,822.13 Cheque 
 44345 5/19/2015 $2,151.71 $0.00 $2,151.71 Cheque 
 44346 5/19/2015 $3,514.30 $0.00 $3,514.30 Cheque 

 Total Vendor Payment: $7,488.14 $0.00 $7,488.14   
 44 City of Timmins, 220 Algonquin Blvd E., Timmins, ON, P4N 1B3 
 18470 5/19/2015 $444.41 $0.00 $444.41 Cheque 

 Total Vendor Payment: $444.41 $0.00 $444.41   
 382 Clean Scene, Box 1568, New Liskeard, ON, P0J 1P0 
 19513 5/19/2015 $43.83 $0.00 $43.83 Cheque 

 Total Vendor Payment: $43.83 $0.00 $43.83  
 422 Compugen Inc., 100 Via Renzo Drive, Richmond Hill, ON, L4S 0B8 
 9088010 5/19/2015 $46.02 $0.00 $46.02 Cheque 

 Total Vendor Payment: $46.02 $0.00 $46.02   
 517 Craig Clattenburg, Box 9, 7 Prospect, Cobalt, ON, P0J 1P0 
 Reimburse for planters 5/19/2015 $180.78 $0.00 $180.78 Cheque 

 Total Vendor Payment: $180.78 $0.00 $180.78 



 
 Vendor Invoice Number Date Gross Amount Discount Net Amount Method 
 46 District of Temiskaming Social Services Admin Brd, PO Box 6006, New Liskeard, ON, P0J 1P0 
 11430 5/19/2015 $18,840.00 $0.00 $18,840.00 Cheque 

 Total Vendor Payment: $18,840.00 $0.00 $18,840.00   
 168 Dynamic Online Marketing Corp., 241 Applewood Crescent #4, Concord, ON, L4K 4EG 
 113012 5/19/2015 $293.80 $0.00 $293.80 Cheque 

 Total Vendor Payment: $293.80 $0.00 $293.80 

  
 292 Earlton-Timiskaming Regional Airport, P.O. Box 99, Earlton, ON, P0J 1E0 
 6055 5/19/2015 $4,384.50 $0.00 $4,384.50 Cheque 

 Total Vendor Payment: $4,384.50 $0.00 $4,384.50   
 48 Gabbani Courier Service, PO Box 1539, 425 McKay Clements Dr, Haileybury, ON, P0J 1K0 
 April 2015 accounts 5/19/2015 $372.26 $0.00 $372.26 Cheque 

 Total Vendor Payment: $372.26 $0.00 $372.26   
 76 Grant Fuels Inc., PO Box 2439, 251 Gray Road, New Liskeard, ON, P0J 1P0 
 142410 5/19/2015 $2,041.82 $0.00 $2,041.82 Cheque 

 Total Vendor Payment: $2,041.82 $0.00 $2,041.82   
 153 Hach Sales and Service Canada LP, 3020 Gore Road, London, ON, N5V 417 
 99314 5/19/2015 $1,098.59 $0.00 $1,098.59 Cheque 

 Total Vendor Payment: $1,098.59 $0.00 $1,098.59  
 257 Hal Brant Elevator Services Ltd., P.O. Box 900, Hamilton, ON, L8N 3P6 
 86494 5/19/2015 $169.50 $0.00 $169.50 Cheque 

 Total Vendor Payment: $169.50 $0.00 $169.50   
 51 Home Improvement - Ace Hardware, PO Box 1257, 463 Morisette Drive, Haileybury, ON, P0J 1K0 
 1-137907 5/19/2015 $9.92 $0.00 $9.92 Cheque 

 Total Vendor Payment: $9.92 $0.00 $9.92   
 79 Kemira Water Solutions, PO Box 11800, Succursale Centre-Ville, Montreal, QB, H3C 0E5 
 9019102779 5/19/2015 $3,803.58 $0.00 $3,803.58 Cheque 

 Total Vendor Payment: $3,803.58 $0.00 $3,803.58   
 410 MacNaughton Hermsen Britton Clarkson Planning Ltd, 230-7050 Weston Road, Woodbridge, ON, L4L 8G7 
 5008321 5/19/2015 $186.45 $0.00 $186.45 Cheque 

 Total Vendor Payment: $186.45 $0.00 $186.45   
 108 Minister of Finance, Payment Processing Centre, PO Box 647, 33 King St. West, Oshawa, ON, L1H 8X3 
 270415037 5/19/2015 $27,969.00 $0.00 $27,969.00 Cheque 
 280415042 5/19/2015 ($10,447.00) $0.00 ($10,447.00) Cheque 

 Total Vendor Payment: $17,522.00 $0.00 $17,522.00  
 81 North Cobalt Flea Market, PO Box 40, 96 King Street, North Cobalt, ON, P0J 1R0 
 April accounts 5/19/2015 $99.79 $0.00 $99.79 Cheque 

 Total Vendor Payment: $99.79 $0.00 $99.79  
 58 Ontario Northland, 555 Oak Street East, North Bay, ON, P1B 8L3 
 1996075 5/19/2015 $169.50 $0.00 $169.50 Cheque 

 Total Vendor Payment: $169.50 $0.00 $169.50   
 244 Phippen Waste Management, R.R. #1 Sunnyside Road, Haileybury, ON, P0J 1K0 
 45940 5/19/2015 $7,703.78 $0.00 $7,703.78 Cheque 

 Total Vendor Payment: $7,703.78 $0.00 $7,703.78  
 59 Pioneer Diesel, PO Box 1088, 437136 Hawn Drive, New Liskeard, ON, P0J 1P0 
 224457 5/19/2015 $391.56 $0.00 $391.56 Cheque 
 224650 5/19/2015 $50.09 $0.00 $50.09 Cheque 
 224975 5/19/2015 $188.12 $0.00 $188.12 Cheque 

 Total Vendor Payment: $629.77 $0.00 $629.77 

  



  
 Vendor Invoice Number Date Gross Amount Discount Net Amount Method 

 
 60 Prism News Corp, PO Box 429, Cobalt, ON, P0J 1C0 
 21878 5/19/2015 $380.81 $0.00 $380.81 Cheque 

 Total Vendor Payment: $380.81 $0.00 $380.81   
 429 REALTAX Inc., 17705B Leslie St., Suite 1A, Newmarket, ON, L3Y 3E3 
 50240 5/19/2015 $627.15 $0.00 $627.15 Cheque 

 Total Vendor Payment: $627.15 $0.00 $627.15   
 435 SCM Insurance Services, Suite 101, 5083 Windermere Blvd SW, Edmonton, AB, T6W 0J5 
 33922-003974 5/19/2015 $690.00 $0.00 $690.00 Cheque 

 Total Vendor Payment: $690.00 $0.00 $690.00   
 84 Security Today, 100 Riverbend Road, North Bay, ON, P1B 8Z4 
 130603 5/19/2015 $189.84 $0.00 $189.84 Cheque 
 130606 5/19/2015 $189.84 $0.00 $189.84 Cheque 
 180000 5/19/2015 $688.17 $0.00 $688.17 Cheque 

 Total Vendor Payment: $1,067.85 $0.00 $1,067.85   
 392 Sun Media Corporation, P.O. Box 7400, London, ON, N5Y 4X3 
 1002561 5/19/2015 $599.76 $0.00 $599.76 Cheque 

 Total Vendor Payment: $599.76 $0.00 $599.76  
 112 Techknowledgy Office Pro, 1776 Lasalle Blvd, P.O. Box 2697 Station A, Sudbury, ON, P3A 5J2 
 49722 5/19/2015 $25.98 $0.00 $25.98 Cheque 
 49773 5/19/2015 $17.50 $0.00 $17.50 Cheque 
 49914 5/19/2015 $17.50 $0.00 $17.50 Cheque 

 Total Vendor Payment: $60.98 $0.00 $60.98   
 63 Temiskaming Printing Company, PO Box 580, 18 Wellington Street, New Liskeard, ON, P0J 1P0 
 81581 5/19/2015 $1,407.35 $0.00 $1,407.35 Cheque 
 81588 5/19/2015 $76.39 $0.00 $76.39 Cheque 

 Total Vendor Payment: $1,483.74 $0.00 $1,483.74  
 516 Timmins International, 2439 Riverside Drive, Timmins, ON, P4R 1M9 
 119186 5/19/2015 $1,452.05 $0.00 $1,452.05 Cheque 

 Total Vendor Payment: $1,452.05 $0.00 $1,452.05   
 202 Township of Coleman, RR #1, 937907 Marsh Bay Road, Coleman Township, ON, P0J 1C0 
 1629073 5/19/2015 $36.00 $0.00 $36.00 Cheque 

 Total Vendor Payment: $36.00 $0.00 $36.00   
 122 Wamco Northern, P.O. Box 5300, Station A, London, ON, N6A 4N7 
 713016-00 5/19/2015 $18.65 $0.00 $18.65 Cheque 

 Total Vendor Payment: $18.65 $0.00 $18.65 

  Total Selected for Payment: $82,080.75 $0.00 $82,080.75 
  
 
 That the accounts as per Schedule No. 15-11 in the amount of  
 $82,080.75 be paid after receiving Council approval.  



 

 

 

 

 

Schedule “A” to  

By-Law No. 2015-011 

Media Policy  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



Town of Cobalt                                                                                                                                Schedule   ‘A’  to  
Media Policy   By-Law No. 2015-011 

Town of Cobalt 

Media Communications Policy 

 

The Town of Cobalt strives to maintain a positive public image and has adopted this Policy 

to ensure that employees, volunteers and elected officials are aware of their 

responsibilities when engaging with media and Social Media.  While Social Media 

provides a novel means by which people interact, it also carries significant risks. The 

purpose of this Policy is to try to avoid those harmful and unwanted outcomes by 

establishing rules about Media participation that are intended to protect both the 

individual and the organization. 

Employees, volunteers and elected officials who engage the media or maintain personal 

Social Media pages are required to comply with this Policy. The Town of Cobalt reserves 

the right to monitor personal Social Media pages. 

Policy 

1.1. The Town of Cobalt is committed to open and transparent communication. The Town will 

communicate to its constituents using a variety of accepted tools; radio, television, 

newspaper, Town of Cobalt Website and social media.  

1.2 The Town will authorize specific individuals to engage media and social media in an official 

capacity to ensure that, as with all communications activities, they are accurate, consistent and 

professional. The Mayor and CAO speak on behalf of the Town of Cobalt unless otherwise 

approved. 

1.3  For the purposes of this Policy, “Social Media” refers to the collective name for various   

online channels of communication that involve the sharing and dissemination of information 

and other content – including, but not limited to: forums, web-based chat rooms and blogs; 

microblogging (e.g. Twitter); social networking (e.g. Facebook, Google+, LinkedIn); media (e.g. 

YouTube, podcasting); content (e.g. Pinterest, Instagram); social bookmarking (e.g. Diigo, 

Stumbleupon); social curation (e.g. Buffer, Storify); and wikis. 

 

 

 

 

 



Town of Cobalt                                                                                                                                Schedule   ‘A’  to  
Media Policy   By-Law No. 2015-011 

Scope  

2.1 The Town of Cobalt employees, elected officials and volunteers are expected to support the 

policies, programs and decisions of the Town of Cobalt and not publically criticize the Town or 

its partners. 

2.2 Information and postings about the Town of Cobalt on personal social media sites and other 

websites must comply with this policy and guidelines. 

 2.3 Without limiting the generality of this Policy, the use of Social Media is also subject to the 

terms and conditions of the Town of Cobalt Code of Conduct, Procedural Guidelines, the Ontario 

Municipal Act and the Collective Agreement. 

2.4 Town of Cobalt employees, volunteers and elected officials who participate in any (media or 

Social Media) activity that is in any way connected, directly or indirectly, to the Corporation of 

the Town of Cobalt and/or its business interests are required to comply with this Policy and will 

be held accountable for all of their media activity in this regard. Inappropriate conduct, as it 

relates to this Policy, may result in disciplinary action.  

 Authorization 

3.1. For the avoidance of any doubt, only the CAO and Mayor are authorized to make public 

statements on behalf of the Town of Cobalt on Social Media or elsewhere concerning the 

Municipality and its public and business interests. 

 3.2 Requests from other organizations to post information on the Town’s social media site shall 

be referred to the CAO. 

Rules 

Users must adhere to the following rules when participating in Social Media activity that is in any way 

connected, directly or indirectly, to the Town of Cobalt and/or its public and business interests: 

4.1 Ensure that you conduct yourself professionally at all times.   

4.2 Unless specifically advised otherwise by the CAO and/or Mayor, ensure that you clearly and 

prominently disclose: (i) that the comments, views, opinions and other materials expressed or 

posted by you are yours alone and do not necessarily represent or reflect those of the Town of 

Cobalt and (ii) if you have a vested interest in the particular subject matter. 

4.3 Ensure that you do not make any statements or otherwise post any materials that could 

harm the Town of Cobalt, its employees and other members of Council, its business interests or 

its reputation.  Without limiting the generality of the forgoing, this means that you must not 

make any statements or post any materials that: 

• are false, dishonest or misleading; 



Town of Cobalt                                                                                                                                Schedule   ‘A’  to  
Media Policy   By-Law No. 2015-011 

• are contradictory or in conflict with information provided by the Town of Cobalt 

(whether on the Town of Cobalt website, Facebook or other Media) 

• contain or otherwise express your personal political views (including, but not limited to, 

views of identifiable officials, elected or otherwise, including other members of council 

and governing bodies – 

• otherwise contain, include, discuss or involve, without limitation, any of the following: 

nudity (partial or otherwise); alcohol/drug consumption; sexual activity or sexual 

innuendo; crude, vulgar or offensive language and/or symbols; derogatory 

characterizations of any ethnic, racial, sexual, religious or other groups; content that 

endorses, condones and/or discusses any illegal, inappropriate or risky behavior or 

conduct; personal information of individuals; and/or any other content that is or could 

be considered inappropriate, disparaging, unsuitable or offensive, or 

• could give rise to any claims whatsoever, including, without limitation, claims of 

infringement, invasion of privacy or publicity, or infringe on any rights and/or interests 

of any third party. 

4.4. Ensure that you obtain consent from every identifiable person (and his/her parent/legal 

guardian if he/she is under the legal age of majority in their jurisdiction of residence) who is 

referenced or otherwise appears in your materials; 

4.5. Ensure that you do not post or otherwise disseminate any third party materials – 

including, but not limited to, materials that contain third party music, photographs, logos, trade-

marks or other copyrighted works – unless you have first obtained the express written consent 

from the owner of such materials. Never ‘tag’ Town of Cobalt staff in any materials (e.g. posts, 

photos, etc.).  

4.6. Ensure that you do not respond to comments related to The Town of Cobalt and/or its 

business interests that are received through media and  Social Media.  All such comments must 

be forwarded to the CAO, Town of Cobalt who will treat the comment appropriately. 

4.7. Ensure that you never disclose, whether deliberate or inadvertent, any confidential or 

non-public information that in any way relates, directly or indirectly, to the Town of Cobalt 

and/or its business interests (including, but not limited to, information relating to personnel 

matters, contracts, business opportunities, closed council meetings, legal matters). You must 

also never discuss any rumors that may involve the Town of Cobalt. Any disclosure or misuse of 

confidential information, whether deliberate or inadvertent, will be dealt with seriously.   

Do not post private or confidential information about fellow Councilors, Town of Cobalt 

employees or constituents. Do not discuss situations involving named, pictured or otherwise 

identifiable individuals without their permission. 

 



Town of Cobalt                                                                                                                                Schedule   ‘A’  to  
Media Policy   By-Law No. 2015-011 

Compliance 

5.1. Although the Town of Cobalt may, from time to time, monitor communications and 

Social Media for breaches of this Policy, it cannot identify every violation.  Users of Social Media 

should, therefore, never assume that any questionable online activity does not violate this 

Policy simply because they have not yet told them to stop engaging in it.  

Inappropriate content will be brought to the attention of the CAO Town of Cobalt to determine 

the appropriate course of action. 

5.2. Breaching this Policy while masquerading as someone else or under a pseudonym is not 

a defense and will instead be treated as an aggravating factor when the Town determines what 

action is warranted. Where a link can be made between a negative or offensive behavior  and 

the Town of Cobalt, even if not named directly, the perpetrator will be subject to disciplinary 

action.   

5.3. If any breach of this Policy results in legal action being taken against the Town of Cobalt, 

the Town in turn may, to the greatest extent permitted by law, seek to recover any damages 

that it had to pay and legal costs it incurred from those individuals(s) who breached this Policy.  

 

    



	

 

1 | P a g e  
 

 
AMENDED PROPOSAL – APRIL 30, 2015 
 
PROPOSED TOWN OF COBALT comments are highlighted in PURPLE  
PROPOSED CO-TEM PRO NATIVE NON-PROFIT HOUSING INC comments are in GREEN 

________________________________________________________________________ 
 
April 7th response from Co-Tem 
March 26th discussion with Co-Tem 
March 23, 2015 Response from Town of Cobalt 
March 9, 2015 
Meeting Summary from March 4, 2015 
 
Re: Proposed Discussion Paper - Fraser House Project - 24 Prospect Avenue, Cobalt 
 
Background  

The Fraser Hotel located in Cobalt, Ontario is home to 15 affordable housing units created under 
the Affordable Housing Program (AHP 2009). The project received $1,517,500 in funding to 
renovate the building envelope and create 15 new affordable housing units managed by Co-Tem. 
The partners in this project are the Town of Cobalt, Cochrane-Temiskaming Pro-Native Non-Profit 
Housing (Co-Tem), District of Timiskaming Social Services Administration Board (DTSSAB) and 
Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing (MMAH). 

Several discussions have been held since December 2013 to address concerns about the operation 
of the Co-Tem units and the shared costs by both the Town of Cobalt and Co-Tem. The discussions 
lead to the Town of Cobalt requesting Co-Tem prepare a business plan for consideration by their 
Council outlining their plan to address the Town of Cobalt’s concerns about operational issues and 
their proposal for shared costs. The business plan was submitted to the Town of Cobalt on July 21, 
2014. 

Due to the municipal election the Town of Cobalt was delayed in their response to Co-Tem’s 
business plan and was not able to circulate their response until the January 30, 2015. It was at this 
time that a face to face meeting was arranged by MMAH to discuss options for moving forward and 
reinforcing a commitment by all partners to the success of the project. 

At the end of the face to face discussions that took place on March 4, 2015 the following list of 
options that would be backdated as of January 1, 2015 for ongoing operations has been put on the 
table for discussion purposes with the understanding that both parties will take them back to their 
respective Board and Council for consideration. 

1. Taxes versus special charges 
Co-Tem referenced the Town of Cobalt’s By-law #2010-009 and requested consideration to 
be invoiced for taxes charged on the assessed value of Co-Tem leased premises.   

Based on By-law # 2014-23, the 2014 residential tax rate was 1.420958%. 



	

 

2 | P a g e  
 

Estimated Costs (Based on 2014 rate) 
   Assessed Taxes   $3,899.05 ($274,396. x 0.1420958) 
  Special Charges (one residence)  $   675.00 

 TOTAL    $4,574.05  

Presently Co-Tem pays special service charges of $675 X 15 units = $10,125 

Town of Cobalt:  ACCEPTED  
  Taxes versus special charges     Cost Cobalt 
                  Estimated costs (Based on 2014 rate)         $5550.95 
  Assessed Taxes          $3,899.05 ($274,396 x 0.1420958) 

                          Special Charges          $   675.00 (one residence)   
  TOTAL                         $4,574.05  
 
Co-Tem:  ACCEPTED 
 

2.  Water and sewage 
The Town of Cobalt has proposed to invoice Co-Tem for water and sewage charges on a 
prorated basis. Water and sewage will be charged on occupied units only. This should 
produce some savings for Co-Tem. This model is dependent on quarterly reporting from  
Co-Tem and pro-rated adjustments would be based on past quarter occupancy. 
 

Town of Cobalt:  ACCEPTED 
 Water and Sewer 
 Pro-rated amount based on occupancy reporting from Co-Tem. Cobalt will prepare 

a report due at the end of each quarter in order to adjust rate for next quarter 
 

Co-Tem:  ACCEPTED    
  

3. Elevator shared costs  
The costs for the maintenance of the elevator will continue to be shared fifty-fifty by the 
Town of Cobalt and Co-Tem.  
 
Town of Cobalt:  ACCEPTED     
 Elevator Shared Cost 
 Status quo, shared 50-50 between Cobalt and Co-Tem   
 
Co-Tem:  ACCEPTED  
   

4. Union Gas shared costs 
The costs for Union Gas will continue to be shared between the Town of Cobalt, Co-Tem 
and The Bunker as follows: 

Town of Cobalt 42.5% 
Co-Tem  42.5% 
Bunker   15.0% 

Town of Cobalt:  ACCEPTED  



	

 

3 | P a g e  
 

 

 

Co-Tem:   COUNTER-PROPOSAL 

This is based on the following details currently available:  

 Co-Tem occupies 25% as identified initially determined by all parties therefore our 
percentage should be 25% not 42.5 %  

 all bills are taxed – if the Town receives tax relief on utilities this relief to be 
passed on to Co-Tem 

 
Town of Cobalt:  REJECTED 
 
Cobalt feels the 42% allocation is justified.  Please find details of how this percentage is 
determined. 

 Gas is used to heat water and units. 
 

WATER TAPS  COUNT %

Cobalt  24 33%

Co-Tem 45 62%

Bunker  3 5%

 

SPACE 

Cobalt  50%

Co-Tem 25%

Bunker  25%

   

 

 Final 42.5% Calculation: 
 Cobalt = (33% + 50%)/2 = 42.5% 
 Co-Tem = (62%+25%)/2 = 42.5% 
 Bunker = (55+25%)/2 = 15% 

 
 

5. Hydro  
Hydro costs are billed individually to the parties as individual meters were installed in the 
beginning of the project. 
 

Town of Cobalt:  ACCEPTED  
Co-Tem:   ACCEPTED  



	

 

4 | P a g e  
 

 
6. Security system and key fob system 

The Town of Cobalt will absorb the costs for the installation and continued maintenance of 
both the security system and the key fob system. This represents a total cost of $5759.14 
that has already been paid by the Town of Cobalt and will not be invoiced to Co-Tem. 
 
Town of Cobalt:  ACCEPTED  
 Cobalt to absorb $5,759.14 
 
Co-Tem:  ACCEPTED  
 

7. Live-in Building Custodian 
In response to the Town of Cobalt’s concerns for the absence of a custodial/maintenance 
staff person to maintain oversight, Co-Tem will implement a live-in custodian.  The role of the 
building custodian is still being developed and a job description will be created that will 
outline the job description.  
 

Co-Tem will have their live in building custodian clean and perform minor maintenance for 
the Cobalt portion of the building at no cost to the Town of Cobalt. 
 
The partners will work together to coordinate an appropriate job description and procedure 
for identifying repairs that require expertise beyond those identified in the job description.  
 
Town of Cobalt:  REJECTED 

 Cobalt would prefer to share the cost of the building custodian on a 50-50 basis. 
 We believe that having a custodian paid by one and incurring costs that will be born, 

by the other is a weak system. Sharing maintenance and repair costs mean that both 
parties are more likely to be proactive and to seek ways to keep costs down. 

 A live-in custodian was a suggestion that originated during discussions over the 
challenges associated with tenants, such as vandalism and smoking. It seems some 
of these issues have been addressed in an improved screening process. 

 Co-Tem:   COUNTER-PROPOSAL  

 Co –Tem agrees to share the cost of a building custodian on a fixed monthly 
cost to provide services to the Co-Tem controlled rental units.  This is based 
on the following duties: 

 Keep Apartment Units in both Cobalt and Co Tem areas in a clean and orderly 
condition.  

 Perform cleaning duties, such as cleaning floors, shampooing rugs, washing 
walls and glass, and removing rubbish.  

 Duties may include tending furnace and boiler, performing routine 
maintenance activities, notifying management of need for repairs, and cleaning 
snow or debris from sidewalks.  

 Monitor building security and safety by checking exits doors and to ensure 
that hazards are not created. 



	

 

5 | P a g e  
 

 The building custodian is required to follow all guidelines under the “Landlord 
and Tenant Act” 

 (The Town of Cobalt to review and add any additional duties\items for 
consideration. Terms of employment, hourly rate, number of hours will be 
established in employment contract, established in consultation with the town 
of Cobalt )  

 Note : Co Tem will consider Mike Harrison if all parties are in agreement 
conditional on him agreeing to a new contract and monthly rate offered. 

 

Duties preformed above will be paid on a fixed monthly rate and paid on a 50-50 cost 
basis by both parties. 

These duties will be spelled out in a contract format based on the previous work 
carried out by the custodian (see list above).   All parties will review the contract to 
ensure that collective needs are being met to provide the services required for our 
rental units, 

We will also need to establish a procedure to deal with the following situations: 

1. Costs for additional work required by custodian: 
a. Co Tem pays for their costs for their units 

i. We will sign a fixed price agreement with custodian 
ii. Or get someone else to do the work 

b. Cobalt pays for their cost for their units 
i. Cobalt will sign a fixed price agreement with custodian 

ii. Or get someone else to do the work 
c. Common area – costs are shared equally 

i. We will both sign a fixed price agreement with custodian 
ii. Or get someone else to do the work 

2. Adding contracted duties to the job on an ongoing review process 
a. This may require extra hours due to extra work 

3. Addition work required 
a. A cost will need to be established for overtime if required 
b. A fixed price system would need to be established 

 

4. Emergency Call Outs / On Call 
a. No heat calls in a unit 
b. Examples: Flooding, break-in. ETC  
 

8. Boiler Maintenance 

That Co-Tem will not be charged for annual maintenance or repairs to the Boiler system. 

 Town of Cobalt:  REJECTED 

 Cobalt would prefer to share the costs of the building maintenance, including the 
boiler, on a 50-50 basis.   



	

 

6 | P a g e  
 

 Cobalt is working toward a service agreement on the boiler system in an effort to 
more proactively maintain the system and extend its useful like.  

 This system was purchased under the project and there have been a number of 
problems with it.  

 We believe that these problems have largely been addressed therefore the costs 
associated with maintaining the boiler will be reduced and should benefit both 
partners.  

 Co-Tem:  COUNTER PROPOSAL 

 Co-Tem is open to negotiating the Boiler System once debt has been 
recovered by October 2020 

 
Town of Cobalt:  REJECTED 

 Cobalt already conceded what is feasible. 
 

9. Past Expenses/Costs 

One area that requires further clarification between both partners is the outstanding invoices prior to 
January 1, 2015.  

Based on discussion, the following has been proposed to address outstanding invoices: 

 As of February 19, 2015, the Town of Cobalt claims $22,973.37  
 The Town of Cobalt recognizes that $4,449.82 in invoice claims from Co-Tem. 
 This leaves an outstanding balance to the Town of Cobalt of $18,523.55. 
 The Town of Cobalt is prepared to further reduce this amount by $5,759.14 to reflect the 

elimination of the Security and Key Fob system.   
 This leaves outstanding amount of $12,764.41. 
 The Town of Cobalt is prepared to allow the $12,764.41 to be repaid over a five year period. 

Co-Tem requests: 

 Co-Tem is requesting updated summary invoice as at February 28, 2015 to ensure all 
invoices has been captured to this date and would benefit from a detailed listing 
(Union Gas charges not invoicing).   

 
Town of Cobalt:   

 Please refer to email with subject “Statement of Account at February 28 with 
Invoices” a statement of account reflecting February 28, 2015 balance.  

 Additionally, “Statement of Account at April 30 with Invoices” has been emailed also 
simply to provide clarification on where the account stands at this date if proposed 
agreement is accepted. 

 With each invoice previously sent, Co-Tem has received copies of the Union Gas bills 
as well as all the bills for which they are invoiced.  We ask that Co-Tem refer to their 
files for this information already supplied. 

 

Questions and Clarifications 

1. Clarification of the outstanding invoices is requested to reflect costs to date.  



	

 

7 | P a g e  
 

 Co-Tem is requesting updated summary invoice as at February 28, 2015 to ensure all 
 invoices has been captured to this date.  

2. The Town of Cobalt is open to having the building custodian take care of their side of the 
building however they will require more details of the role of this individual before 
agreeing. The Town of Cobalt has concerns about the lack of experience of the 
candidate.  Addressed 

3. The Town of Cobalt has expressed concerns that over the 50 year partnership, key 
structural and physical plant components of the Fraser House, may need replacement 
rather than maintenance.  Cobalt wants the partners to discuss a fair mechanism to 
address these areas.  Addressed  

Next Steps:  March 15, 2015 Completed 

 It was agreed that comments discussed and now identified on this document would be 
provided to the District of Timiskaming Social Services Administration Board (DTSSAB) and 
copied to all by Friday March 13, 2015. 

 DTSSAB will provide consolidated discussion documents on Monday March 16th, 2015 and 
circulate to everyone. 

 Co-Tem and the Town of Cobalt agree to review the final discussion document with 
representatives of respective Board/Council during the week of March 16-20, 2015. 

 Co-Tem and Town of Cobalt to provide their formal position on the discussion document by 
Monday March 23, 2015. 

 The group will reconvene on Wednesday March 25, 2015 (via teleconference or face-to-
face, as deemed appropriate). 

Next Steps:  March 30, 2015 Completed  

By end of day April 1st, Co-Tem to circulate the amended Proposal Paper to applicable Board 
Members and identify (different colour/highlighting) an amendments to reflect the formal position 
to be counter-offered to the Town of Cobalt. 

 By end of day April 2nd, counter-proposal will be forwarded to the Town of Cobalt for their 
review and response. 

 By end of day April 8th the Town of Cobalt to respond back all parties on formal position and 
verify if and when a council endorsement to this agreement can be reached. 

Next Steps:  April 13, 2015  Completed  

 Circulate Co-Tem counter-proposal to the Town by end of day April 13th 
 By end of day April 24th, the Town of Cobalt to respond back to all parties on formal position. 
 Proposed all partner discussion/face-to-face meeting April 28th.  

Next Steps: May 5, 2015  

 By 12:00pm Friday May 8th, 2015 the Town of Cobalt and Co-Tem will provide a response to 
the DTSSAB regarding the proposed date to a date for a face to face meeting. Proposed 
dates May 20th or May 22nd meeting details to be determined.  



	

 

8 | P a g e  
 

 The Town of Cobalt and Co-Tem will ensure that there will be the authority for decision 
making attending the next face to face meeting.  

 By end of day Tuesday May 12th, 2015 the DTSSAB will circulate meeting details regarding 
time, date and location. 

In conclusion, everyone at the meeting expressed commitment to the continued viability of the 
Fraser House Project.  In doing so, will require concessions from both sides and a willingness to 
work together as partners.  It is hoped this discussion paper will provide the framework to help 
partners re-establish a healthy working relationship. 


	Agenda for May 19, 2015
	Minutes for Regular Meeting April 28, 2015
	MiniPutt-Council request
	FONOM 2015 Resolutions
	Administrative Report 2015-06 Credit Card Payments
	Administrative Report 2015-07 Insurance of Museum Vans
	Attachments to Admin Report 2015-07
	Arena Proposal May 2015
	2015 Budget Report
	Community Garden Proposal May 2015
	Memo to C. Bedard re Building Permit Application - 8 Lang Street  - 5 May 2015
	Legal Non-Conforming Status Affirmation Statements
	CORRESPONDENCE FOR COMMENT
	Correspondence for Comment May 19, 2015
	CORRESPONDENCE FOR INFORMATION
	Correspondence for Information May 19, 2015
	Schedule 15-10 May 19 2015
	Schedule No. 15-11 May 19, 2015
	By-law 2015-011 Media Policy
	Fraser Proposal Response of April 30th

